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  homosexuality, and war is also discussed, and an important expanded section deals with the contribution to the Western Front of Indians, Africans, and – a subject frequently overlooked
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Foreword: The Western Front





  Of all the theatres in which the First World War was fought there is no doubt that for the British, the French, the Americans and the principal enemy, the Germans, the Western

  Front was the most important. Basically, it was there that the war was lost and won. But it was also there that another issue was opened up – that of the nature of warfare itself, for what

  took place there between 1914 and 1918 seemed so horrific, and was in human terms so costly, that it has left a permanent scar on the imagination and attitudes of later generations.




  When people use the term ‘Western Front’, what is being referred to, nearly always, is the war of the trenches. Strictly speaking, however, the Western Front opened with the first

  shots of August 1914 and closed with the Armistice of November 1918. This is the span covered by this book, but, necessarily, the bulk of it is devoted to the period of trench warfare, which began

  in earnest in late 1914 and became moribund (though it was far from extinct) with the great German offensive of March 1918.




  Trench warfare was all the more disturbing because it was unexpected, so that those involved in it saw it not only as a monstrosity but also as an aberration. There was certainly no general

  perception in 1914 that the war in the west would degenerate into a head-to-head confrontation between fixed positions. All the armies involved had planned for a campaign of movement; instead, they

  found themselves enmeshed in a static struggle between increasingly sophisticated and ever-denser defence systems. In effect, they were drawn into a new, industrialized version of old-style siege

  warfare, except that this was a siege without walls, with sandbags substituting for battlements and No Man’s Land fulfilling the role of the medieval moat. Each line of trenches became, as it

  were, a flattened fortress, a horizontal Troy.




  That metaphor is not entirely frivolous in that the essence of the four years that followed entrenchment was the search for some kind of wooden horse; indeed, the

  original wooden horse was itself in effect a technical response to a stalemate war. The Germans who flinched at the sight of the tanks at Flers – in the Battle of the Somme in 1916 could have

  been forgiven if they saw that new weapon in such terms. They themselves found their equivalent in the successful penetration methods, such as their use of groups of Sturmtruppen (storm

  troopers) pushed forward before the moment of attack, which they employed when they finally broke the trench-lock in March 1918. New developments of various kinds – including major advances

  in artillery techniques and infantry tactics – crucially helped the final sweep to victory of the Allies in 1918.




  With hindsight, it can be seen that trench warfare was virtually inevitable. The sheer power of the new mass-produced weaponry now available gave the armies no alternative but to go to ground.

  For this was to be above all an artillery war, and to a lesser extent a war of the machine gun, against which the obvious response was to create defences for protection. And the more each army

  acquired its necessary reinforcements and its ever-burgeoning units of support, the more the temporary positions they occupied on entrenchment acquired the air of permanence. It was as though two

  giants of equal strength were trapped facing each other in an underground tunnel with no way back.




  The situation produced an understandable nostalgia in those who remembered the dash and movement of earlier wars. Thus the first British Commander-in-Chief, Field Marshal Sir John French, whose

  reputation had been won on the South African veld, could, writing in May 1915, deplore what he called (in a striking metaphor) the ‘tremendous crust of defence’ that the

  Germans had been forming and consolidating throughout the previous winter and state, with a touch almost of romantic longing:




   




  

    

      How I should love to have a real good ‘go’ at them in the open with lots of cavalry and horse artillery and run them to earth. Well! It may come.1


    


  




   




  The zone of the trenches became more than a geographical location, a piece of territory assigned for close fighting. It became a thing of itself. It acquired its own

  personality. In a memoir written just after the war a former conscript soldier described his awareness of it from behind the lines:




   




  

    

      I gazed in an eastward direction. All the snow had melted, the fields, the bare trees and hedges, were steeped in warm sunlight. In the distance there was a gentle slope

      crowned by a long line of poplars. Beyond the poplars, about eight miles away, there was something I did not see, although I knew it was there – a stupid, terrible and uncouth monster

      that stretched in a zigzag winding course from the North Sea to the Alps. It was strangely silent at that hour, but I was fascinated by it and thought about it harder and harder, in spite of

      myself. I became increasingly conscious of it, and it grew upon me until it seemed to crush and darken everything beneath its intolerable weight.2


    


  




   




  If it was a monster, it was a Hydra, a thing with many heads, and also with innumerable limbs. Over the years the Western Front grew and developed until it became a society, a world on its own,

  a temporary alternative civilization except that that is an incongruous word to use about a form of human activity devoted by definition to mass destruction. Its ramifications stretched far behind

  the firestep and the machine-gun post, to the artillery lines, the billet villages, the supply dumps, the training grounds, the casualty clearing stations, the base hospitals, the veterinary

  establishments, not to mention the baths (often brewery vats) to which the troops came from time to time to be deloused. And the estaminets and the brothels, one might add, and the towns and cities

  away from the war zone into which men could occasionally escape for a taste of quasi-normal life. It also had its postal and transport systems, its own labour organization, its canteens, its

  concerts, its burial force. More, and crucially, at all levels from brigade to GHQ it had its Staff personnel. Overall, indeed, far more men were engaged in administration and organization than in

  fighting. One consequence of this was that there could be a strong resentment on the part of those who risked their lives against those who were thought to be having an easy life at the base. Thus

  Captain Arthur Gibbs, MC, an officer in the Welsh Guards, could refer in some heat, in a letter of 30 April 1918, to the compilation of a list of so-called

  ‘Sturmtruppen’ (British ones in this case, not German), i.e. officers who had been in the Army from the beginning but had never been in the trenches with their regiments and had thus

  had ‘a real soft job for the whole of the war’. Yet those who were responsible for what we could now call the infrastructure of the front also had their stout defenders. For underneath

  the criticism, which was often focused on the red-tabbed young officers who rode around on fine horses in the entourage of senior generals, was a realization that somehow the whole multifarious

  operation of keeping an Army at war did actually work and get things done. Thus as early as November 1915 Major C.E.L. Lyne, an officer of the Royal Field Artillery, could write approvingly of

  ‘the vast organization necessary for carrying on the war. One appreciates it without realizing it.’




  It will have been noticed that the above description applies to the British zone of the Front only, which is, and properly (the Imperial War Museum being the supreme source of material about the

  British role in the First World War) the subject of this book. In addition, of course, the French, the Germans, and, on a much smaller scale, the Belgians had their own sectors and civilizations.

  Mention of which fact offers the opportunity to make a point frequently forgotten by British readers, that for most of the war the French were by a long way the senior partner in the Franco-British

  alliance, maintaining several hundreds of miles of trench lines whereas the British never held more than about a hundred, and that only for a brief period in 1918. This had consequences often

  overlooked: when, for example, battles continued longer than might have seemed sensible from a British point of view, this was almost always because of pressure from the French. The British High

  Command was never in the position of fighting its own private war.




  * * *




  The Western Front has, of course, been portrayed many times, on film, on radio, on television, and in countless novels, memoirs and histories – so why add this book to

  the already teetering pile? What gives this volume a special validity is that it presents its subject through evidence that, in virtually every case, is in public print for the first time. It is as

  though long after an election or a referendum a mass of unopened ballot boxes had been found in a hitherto locked room; the overall result might not be affected but some

  adjustments to previously accepted views might possibly be required. To give just one example: it is surely of interest that a brave and intelligent infantry officer (soon to be killed in action)

  could have written as early as September 1914 – i.e. under two months after going to France with the British Expeditionary Force – that he hoped the outcome of the present fighting

  might be a speedy Waterloo that would keep the peace for fifty years, by which time the profession of soldiery might be seen as a thing of the past. Moreover, he believed he was not recording a

  personal, deviant attitude, but a ‘really universal feeling against war’ among many of his fellows. So much for the general assumption that serious questions about the war’s

  carnage were not asked until the articulate civilian-soldiers of Kitchener’s Army had had their blooding on the Somme in 1916.




  There is another significant way in which this volume strikes a different note among current books about the First World War. Very early I took the strategic decision to use – except in

  the case of a small number of clearly declared exceptions – only evidence produced at the time as source material, and to ignore memoirs or interviews from a later date. I did this despite a

  widely held view that what was written by soldiers during the war, particularly in letters to loved ones back home, was almost always so anodyne as to give no real conception of what was actually

  taking place. I have not found this to be so. Undoubtedly many men were reticent, wishing to spare their families the harsher details, but equally there were many who made no bones about telling

  them how it was, and in the case of diaries there was no such sanction anyway. There have been numerous books in recent years using, often very effectively, the reminiscences of living veterans, so

  there is a strong case for making this one in a different mode. This is not to claim that contemporary evidence is automatically better or more true – letters and diaries written just after

  an event can be as fallible as evidence offered many decades later – but there is often a vigour and a muscle about their accounts not matched by the later memoir or recording. One other

  consequence of this decision is that, as it happens, there are a substantial number of fatalities among the book’s contributors. This is how it should be, for it is surely not right that the

  description of a war should be left only to its survivors. Not a few of those who came through the great 1914–18 conflict have looked back on it as the time of their

  lives. For too many soldiers quoted in this book it was the time of their deaths. I look on this book as offering an important opportunity to give these largely forgotten men their voice.




  In adopting this policy, I have had to ignore some excellent works of reminiscence and also some very remarkable sound recordings that the IWM has been energetically collecting in recent years.

  For these, I am sure, the time will come, but this present volume is, I believe, the better and the more valuable a contribution to the literature of the war for the sharp focus that has been

  adopted. One other positive consequence of this policy is that a notable absentee from this book is General, Colonel, Sergeant or Private Hindsight. This is not to say that the men quoted here do

  not have their strong views and opinions; they do and they express them vigorously. But their views are of the time, not massaged by later assumptions or reappraisals.




  If there is a keynote text among the mass of letters and diaries that I have consulted it is a sentence written in 1914 by an officer who is much quoted here and who was not among the survivors

  at the Armistice: Captain, later Major Harry Dillon, DSO, MC. On 23 September that year he wrote a very frank account of events on the Aisne front, and then made this comment on what he had

  written:




   




  

    

      I don’t know if some of this letter is a bit gruesome but I can tell you there are a good many things which I have not and could not put on paper, but I think it is a

      mistake to gloss everything over so that people at home should imagine war lightly as a sort of picnic.


    


  




  This is surely a significant statement. Dillon plainly saw there was no virtue in simply piling horror on horror – there were limits; but he also saw that there was a

  great virtue in conveying the reality of events in a manner that would leave the reader far from the scene in no doubt as to the nature of the war to which he was giving his support and which was

  being fought in his name. It is men like Dillon, consciously or unconsciously adopting this viewpoint, who have made this book possible. Their names appear in the Index of Contributors at the end

  of the book, a list which is, in a real sense, a roll of honour.




  * * *




  As has already been implied, the war of the Western Front falls into three principal phases. I have reflected this in the book. The first phase, dealt

  with in Part One, ‘Movement’, covers the period from the beginning of the war until the end of the first fast-moving battles – i.e., from August to November 1914. The second

  phase, which is dealt with in Part Two, entitled ‘Deadlock’, covers the period of trench warfare from the end of 1914 to the German spring attacks of 1918. The final phase, dealt with

  in Part Three, ‘Breakout’, covers the period from March to November 1918.




  With regard to quotations, these are reproduced verbatim whenever possible, but obvious errors have been corrected and minor confusions have been clarified. As a general rule it has not been

  thought necessary to indicate where the original text has been abridged.




  





  
Background Note





  The British Expeditionary Force (BEF) of regular troops and reservists that left for France in August 1914 consisted of I Corps (1st and 2nd Divisions) and II Corps (3rd and

  5th Divisions). The 4th Division arrived in time to assist at Le Cateau, while the 6th joined during the Battle of the Aisne: these then became III Corps. The 7th Division arrived in time to be

  drawn into the First Battle of Ypres. An Indian Corps and the first units of the Territorial Army (originally a part-time force raised for home defence) also came into action at this time.

  Nineteen-fifteen saw the arrival of the first divisions of Kitchener’s citizen army of volunteers; these would play an increasingly important role. In the later years of the war, however, the

  principal reinforcement troops of the BEF were conscripts.




  The BEF was constituted into two Armies on Christmas Day 1914, with General Sir Douglas Haig appointed to command First Army, and General Sir Horace Smith-Dorrien Second Army. This number would

  eventually grow until by 1917 there were five Armies in the field. The BEF’s first Commander-in-Chief was Field Marshal Sir John French. He was succeeded by Haig in December 1915, the latter

  holding this position to the end of hostilities, though he did not become a Field Marshal until January 1917.




  Other Empire countries that contributed in the British zone of the Western Front were Canada, Australia, New Zealand, and South Africa, with forces from all these countries gaining impressive

  reputations for their fighting skill. Portugal also sent a somewhat less effective expeditionary force in 1917.




  Armies usually consisted of four Corps, which in turn consisted of three or four divisions. Throughout the war troops moved and fought in divisions but lived and thought in smaller units, such

  as battalions (infantry) or batteries (artillery). Normally there were four (later three) battalions in a brigade, and three brigades in a division. An infantry battalion

  at full complement consisted of up to a thousand men, of whom thirty were officers. Battalions were subdivided into companies, platoons, and sections.




  GHQ (General Headquarters) was established at St Omer in October 1914 but from March 1916 to April 1919 was at Montreuil, just inland from the main British base and training ground at

  Étaples. It should, however, be noted that when the front moved forward in 1918 much use was made of that relatively new institution of war, the command train. Thus Haig’s train was in

  Cambrai at the time of the Armistice, while that of the Allied Supreme Commander Marshal Foch, temporarily based in a siding in the woods of Compiègne, was being put to significant use as

  the location in which the Armistice was signed.
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PART ONE





  MOVEMENT




  August to November 1914




  This constant marching is a tremendous physical strain, and is trying for nerves as well. The men are doing it with their usual wonderful efficiency, but many have fallen out,

  and when we are retiring that means that they are probably captured. Poor fellows! However, I suppose that is the fortune of war.




   




  Captain James Paterson.




  1st Battalion, South Wales Borderers, 5 September 1914




  We have been, I assure you, in the hottest of places and people who have themselves been through South Africa describe the same as being a mere picnic compared with what this

  war has been up to the present. We have been on the move incessantly and attacking and retiring and advancing the whole time.




   




  Lieutenant Neville Woodroffe




  1st Battalion, Irish Guards, c. 13 September 1914




  




  





  
Introduction to Part One





  IT COULD BE SAID THAT the Western Front came into existence as soon as the Germans opened hostilities in Western Europe by their invasion of Belgium on

  4 August 1914. The German intention was to strike through that country at their prime enemy, France; the fact that Belgium’s integrity had been guaranteed by the British by a treaty signed in

  1839 was the tripwire that brought Britain into the war, though Britain was also linked to France by the understanding, established in 1904, known as the Entente Cordiale. In response the French

  themselves attacked, throwing substantial forces eastwards against the heavily defended provinces of Alsace-Lorraine (which they had lost to Germany in the Franco-Prussian War of 1870–71 and

  now wanted back), where they would make few gains and suffer appalling losses. Meanwhile, Britain ordered its standby Expeditionary Force (the BEF) to the continent to assist the French and

  Belgians. These were long-anticipated moves and (except in the case of neutral Belgium) followed detailed plans on all sides, Germany’s being a modified version of that devised between 1897

  and 1905 by a former Chief of the German General Staff, Count Alfred von Schlieffen.




  In briefest outline, the Germans struck with seven armies ranged north to south, the northernmost ones swinging round faster than the southernmost in a massive semicircular movement of which the

  original aim was to overrun Paris on both sides and then sweep eastwards to divide France’s forces in two. This, the Germans hoped, would secure them the French capital, break France’s

  will to resist, and bring about a speedy victory before their enemy on their eastern flank, Russia, could lumber into action. In the event, they lost impetus partly thanks to the activities of

  Belgian francs-tireurs and the resistance offered by the Belgian forts of Liège and Namur, but also because of their diversion of troops from their right wing to invest Antwerp. The

  right wing was vital to the whole German strategy, but now the current German Chief of the General Staff, von Moltke, opted to reinforce the less important left wing. This

  decision was just one symptom of a loss of grip, and of nerve, on von Moltke’s part which arguably lost the Germans the campaign and certainly lost von Moltke his job – and his

  reputation.




  As the invaders moved on through Belgium and into France, they met increasing French opposition, which, together with the efforts of the BEF at Mons and Le Cateau, put a further brake on an

  advance that soon began to show signs of running out of steam through sheer physical exhaustion. A successful counter-attack was launched by the French Generals Lanrezac and Franchet

  d’Esperey, following which the Germans decided to rein in their advance to the north of Paris. This shift in the axis of the German right wing was effectively a last, fatal modification to

  the Schlieffen Plan. As the Germans swung east they made themselves vulnerable to a determined flank attack by the French, who, under the command of General Joffre and again with British help,

  fought them to a standstill at the Battle of the Marne.




  The Germans retreated but then dug themselves in on the heights overlooking the valley of the Aisne, after which a brief unexpected preview of trench warfare took place, lasting several weeks.

  Subsequently, with the Germans marching first, both sides attempted a series of outflanking movements until there were opposing forces spread out in roughly parallel lines over some 450 miles from

  the Swiss border to the Channel coast. During this period the British redeployed at their own request from the Aisne region to the area of northern France and Belgium – near to the Channel

  ports – which they were to make theirs for the next four years.




  There followed a major attempt by both sides to strike a decisive blow in the area around Ypres in Belgium. No clear victor having emerged, the armies settled into lines of defence, and the long

  deadlock of the trenches began.




  Part One tells the story of the BEF’s arrival in France, of the Battle of Mons, of the Great Retreat that followed, of the first taste of trench warfare on the Aisne, and of the

  touch-and-go encounter of late 1914 that was to become famous as the First Battle of Ypres. Three individuals are featured: a Medical Officer whose duty to help the wounded at whatever cost turned

  him (if briefly) into a prisoner of war; a Staff Sergeant who went into hiding after Mons but was shortly able to make a memorable escape; and a nurse who served with devoted

  professionalism during First Ypres at a Casualty Clearing Station well within earshot, and therefore within shell-shot range, of that keynote battle – a nurse who saw the woman’s role

  in a national crisis as one of active, unflinching, professional involvement in the nation’s cause.
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  Advance to Mons




  IT BEGAN IN EUPHORIA. When Sergeant William Edgington and his comrades of D Battery, Royal Horse Artillery, landed at Le Havre in mid-August, they

  received an enthusiastic reception from the French population, which, his diary records, ‘smothered us with flowers (and kisses)’. The entente between the British and the

  French, it seemed, could not have been more cordiale, but inevitably there were rich opportunities for comedy, even farce. It was perhaps significant that Captain James Paterson, Adjutant

  of the 1st South Wales Borderers, which unit had recently returned from India, found that the crowds of soldiers and workmen waiting at the Havre quayside reminded him of Baluchistanis, for French

  seemed the least available lingua franca as his battalion established itself ashore. His Quartermaster, Wilson, went immediately into action without the slightest concern for linguistic barriers.

  ‘Can’t speak a word of French and does not want to,’ Paterson noted in his diary; ‘manages to carry on with English and Arabic picked up in Egypt some twenty-five years ago.

  Nobody understands a word he says, but he does not care a damn – excuse me.’ Similarly when a day or so later a French lady, eager to offer accommodation to the arriving allies,

  attempted to communicate this to an ordinary Tommy of Paterson’s battalion, the latter answered with ‘a mixture of English, Welsh and Urdu’. The lady’s efforts, Paterson

  added, had involved ‘showing him [the Tommy] various beds and things, and naturally this had led to misunderstandings’. It was a situation that almost called for a Feydeau. Happily when

  Paterson arrived on the scene, both parties had dissolved into fits of laughter.




  However, ‘beer and cigarettes’, both of which were readily available, seemed to mean the same to both nationalities, as did – it was a concept that would become a craze, a

  cult, almost a religion, over the next four years – ‘souvenirs’; Paterson observed that some soldiers were dispensing, to selected demoiselles and in return

  for kisses, the ‘SWBs’ from their shoulder straps. Likewise Sergeant Bert Reeve, 16th Battery, Royal Field Artillery, found ‘everyone shaking hands and wanting souvenirs, cap

  badges, belts, etc.’ when on his second evening at Le Havre he went for a walk in the town proper, ‘previous visit only docks and boulevards’. He also recorded in his diary:

  ‘Had a 5 cent ride on tram. French beer very pale and light.’




  If there was beer for the men, there was stronger stuff for the officers. Lieutenant Rowland Owen, 2nd Battalion, Duke of Wellington’s Regiment, wrote to his parents on 22 August:

  ‘We are living in great luxury, drinking enormous quantities of the wine of the country and eating food beautifully cooked by an aboriginaless’ – a term which presumably referred

  to a genuine citizeness of Le Havre, rather than to an outback Australian who happened to have taken up residence in the chief port of Normandy. One evening Captain Paterson’s kindly hostess

  promised her SWB guests ‘a bottle or two of twenty-four-year-old wine with dinner, which turned out to be a very acceptable prunelle’ – plum brandy. But to all ranks hospitality

  seemed limitless. Sapper Hugh Bellew, member of a signal company of the Royal Engineers attached to GHQ, was clearly delighted: ‘Every night we went out and were treated everywhere we went,

  would not let us pay for a thing.’ A day or two later his diary comments were still positive – ‘Up to now living like fighting cocks, the bread here beats English bread’

  – but there were drawbacks: ‘Properly fed up with French tobacco, would give anything for a Gold Flake.’ However, this was a small fly in much good ointment.




  It was the same at Boulogne. The diary of Lieutenant T.S. Wollocombe, Adjutant of the 4th Battalion, Middlesex Regiment, includes this description:




   




  

    

      The whole town turned out to a man to cheer us on with shouts of ‘Huway, huway!’ and ‘Vive l’Angleterre’ and ‘Les Allemands,

      Wugh!’, followed by a sign with the hand drawn across the neck as if to cut it. They were most enthusiastic and at a halt they brought us plums, beer and water for the men.


    


  




  Wollocombe noted that there was admiration as well as welcome in the attitude of the Boulogne population:




   




  

    

      They were surprised at the way the men kept in step as French troops are not encouraged to do this.


    


  




  This is a not insignificant observation, in that one thing that was to distinguish the British Army on the Western Front throughout the war was a sense of its innate quality

  and worth. Without this it would not have survived the troughs and setbacks of the years to come nor emerged in 1918 as arguably the best troops in action on any front of the war. But on the road

  to this excellence there would be many painful experiences and hard lessons, and few of the first into the fight would be there to enjoy the consummation.




  The breezy atmosphere continued as the BEF moved northwards towards the future fighting zone, with cheering crowds, more kisses, and free gifts of all kinds at the stations. Captain Paterson

  summed it all up in one sentence:




   




  

    

      Really France is very nice, what with the food and the ladies, bless them!


    


  




  But this hectic cheerfulness could not last. There was serious business ahead, as Paterson was well aware:




   




  

    

      There will be a sad change when we get on the march again and nearer the enemy.


    


  




  * * *




  Sunday, 23 August, witnessed the turning point, the collision between euphoria and reality. Belgium produced the setting, and the small commercial and industrial town of Mons

  provided the name, for the first British engagement of the war.




  On the previous day, the 22nd, Wollocombe’s 4th Middlesex was feeling its way somewhat uncertainly towards Mons. Together with his CO, Wollocombe rode on ahead of the battalion, halting

  several miles short of the town at a village called Mesvin, where they discussed the situation with their advanced guard cavalry commander, Lieutenant Whittle of the 15th Hussars. Whittle had

  little to impart ‘except that our protective cavalry were in touch with the Uhlans who had bolted at the sight of our cavalry and were being followed up’. (This was possibly a case of

  rumour rather than fact, for the Uhlans, Germany’s elite lancer units, were to feature in numerous reports at this time, often when they were seen and somewhat more

  frequently when they were not – the alarming thought of horsebacked Prussians with plumed helmets erupting at speed over the horizon being in everyone’s mind.) Wollocombe found that the

  Belgian villagers were ‘tremendously excited to think that an English battalion was coming through’, and judged from the lavishness of their welcome (chocolates were much in evidence,

  among numerous other gifts) that they were capable of even outdoing the French in hospitality. But the overwhelming civilian mood was one of sheer fear ‘at the name of “Les

  Allemands” (the Germans). “Ou sont les Allemands?” they continually asked us with expressions of terror in their faces.’ They would have been even more alarmed, as

  indeed would Wollocombe and his fellow officers, had they realized that at that moment the German First Army was, in the expressive simile of the soldier-historian Cyril Falls, coming south at the

  British ‘like a bull with head down’.




  Everybody was aware, however, that the Germans were not far off. Wollocombe waited at Hyon, two miles from Mons, while the CO went off on a further reconnaissance, and when the latter came back

  for a change of horse and a much-needed meal, he brought yet more stories indicating the presence of enemy outriders in the vicinity:




   




  

    

      We heard that 9 prisoners, Uhlans, had been captured by our Cavalry – one wounded and brought back to a crossroads just in front of one of our Company’s

      Headquarters. We were all very excited about this capture: the first we had heard of German prisoners, and Uhlans too! However we never saw them.


    


  




  The next move was to Mons itself, where the 4th Middlesex and their fellow units of 9th Brigade were ordered to take up a defensive line on the north and west flanks of the

  town:




   




  

    

      This gave us 4 canal bridges and 2 railway level crossings to hold. There were a lot of buildings on our side of the railway which were placed in a state of defence by the

      RE [Royal Engineers].




      We had had a very trying day and were all glad of a night’s rest. This was the first night in the open and luckily it was a beautiful one, quite warm and there was not even any dew,

      which means of course rain; and rain we got the next day. It was not hard, but drizzled all the time from about 6 a.m. to 10 a.m. when the battle of Mons started.


    


  




  The battle began to the ringing of church bells for Sunday mass; churchgoers were hurrying to worship in their Sunday black as the first shells flew. ‘We were very soon

  subjected to very heavy shellfire,’ wrote Wollocombe, ‘but nothing was heard of the enemy’s infantry for about 2 or 2½ hours.’ It was not until about one

  o’clock that the German infantry, attacking en masse, appeared in the defenders’ sights. They were met by the disciplined rifle-fire of the well-trained British battalions, releasing

  their bullets at fifteen rounds a minute with a consistency that made the Germans think that they were marching against machine guns. Such machine guns as there were – two per battalion

  – also joined in the affray and, Wollocombe noted, there was ‘tremendous execution’, but despite this the German attack was making gains:




   




  

    

      We got a message from Brigade Headquarters about 2.15 as follows: ‘Did you get my [signal] 46 re destroying bridges. Please inform if they have been destroyed or

      not.’




      The CO dictated the answer which was to the effect that the order had arrived too late and the Germans were already in possession of them. I can remember having a good pull at my water

      bottle after this message had gone off. It was about the first time in the day that my thoughts had been off the day’s work, and I can remember how the sun was shining and how hot I was,

      and I even had time to think that a battle was a wonderfully exciting thing when it is in progress.


    


  




   




  Not far off on the British front, at St Ghislain, the 120th Battery, Royal Field Artillery, was also in action. One of its senior NCOs, Sergeant Albert George, subsequently described the abrupt

  transformation of a quiet Sunday morning into a scene of violence and destruction in a diary account remarkable for its detail and precision:




   




  

    

      In St Ghislain the people were just going and coming from the different churches and the scene was very peaceful. At 10 a.m. we put our gun in action behind the Mons Canal

      on a small hill about 500 yards to the right front of the Town Hall. All the gunners were busy barricading and digging gun-pits and about 11.15 when they were almost

      finished the order ‘Action’ came down and everybody went to their different duties and also we were very pleased to have a go at the Germans. About 11.20 a.m. four shells came

      whizzing through the air and all four dropped in the town terrifying the people who started screaming and running in all directions and a panic started but our presence soothed them a great

      deal. At 11.30 a.m. our battery opened fire and the war began in earnest.




      All the while the German shells were dropping all around us, but they could not at first find our Battery. At 12 noon the Germans found a good target, the town hall and the church spire, and

      we counted over a dozen holes in the dome of the town hall and half a dozen through the church and as the church was in the middle of the town the Germans could not help hitting a house or

      something. At about 12 noon also the German infantry were advancing upon us and things were beginning to look unpleasant, as we had to fire alternately at the infantry and guns, as our infantry

      had not arrived. At about 12.15 the German gunners found our battery and things were beginning to get very hot for us and the shells were dropping all round us but not causing serious damage to

      us only ploughing up the ground and killing civilians. The Germans were advancing so rapidly that we were firing at the low range of 600 yards and every shell killing dozens as they were

      advancing in close order. Our Major seeing how things were going kept sending down cheery messages but every man was too intent upon his work to take much notice or feel afraid of the German

      shells.




      At 1.0 p.m. seeing that the only way to save the Battery from being captured or killed our Major ordered us to get ready to retire and at 1.15 p.m. we retired into the town behind the town

      hall. When we had been in the town about half an hour the civilians began to regain their courage and come out of their houses and shops and they readily gave us wine and sandwiches, fruit,

      boiled eggs and bread and butter, but we refused most of it as we felt too sick and down-hearted to eat, so we all had a very poor Sunday dinner. Some of the men were drinking beer to try to

      drown their miseries, but our Captain fell the battery in and threatened to shoot the first man he saw taking wine or beer from the villagers. This order might seem severe, but he said,

      ‘It might be drugged or poisoned and that we must not disgrace the British Army’.




      At 2.30 p.m. our Infantry had taken up their position and as the firing had died down somewhat our Major resolved to have another go at the Huns so we went into action

      again. All that afternoon we kept the Huns at bay although they were about ten to one.


    


  




  With such odds, however, there could only be one outcome:




   




  

    

      We started to retire at 7.0 p.m. with four guns out of six; as we were galloping through the villages infantrymen with ammunition wagons and water carts left them and their

      horses and ran after our wagons so as to get away as soon as possible. The civilians also were shouting and screaming and running in hundreds and little children were crying piteously, it was

      an awful ending to an awful day. We thought of Sunday in England and of what our friends were doing and we all envied them.




      That night we camped about 11.30 p.m. near Dour but we all slept with our boots and clothes on and all the horses had their harness on. That night the sky was lit up by many houses which the

      Huns had set on fire in order to watch our movements.


    


  




   




  The remnants of Lieutenant Wollocombe’s 4th Middlesex spent the night in a cornfield near Mesvin, from which they had advanced the previous day. In Mesvin itself they had been warmly

  welcomed by the surviving villagers, despite the fact that they were now marching away from the Germans and not towards them:




   




  

    

      Although thirsting for information about ‘Les Allemands’, they did not forget to produce biscuits, chocolates, water, fruit, bread and all sorts of

      things for the men, who were retiring, like a beaten army, through their village. They bore no malice.


    


  




  However, although the BEF had plainly suffered a setback, Wollocombe felt that there were grounds for confidence. The Germans had not had it all their own way, and they had revealed professional

  weaknesses that could obviously be exploited:




   




  

    

      The battle showed that the enemy was not led but driven, and that well-directed fire would mow them down at very little risk to the firers, as they did not aim but shot

      anyhow and without troubling to put their rifles to their shoulders; that they had not been taught to use the rifle; that their firing was distinctly erratic, and was one result of their iron discipline, which enabled their officers to drive them on and make them shoot as they went along without them bothering how or where they shot.




      The battle also gave the impression that the enemy, although in vastly superior numbers, had very little push or plan of action, and did not try to make any use of cover. If they had had a

      proper plan they should have pushed us back in a quarter of the time they did, but they simply relied on their weight of numbers, which must have been 9 to 1. In consequence of this and their

      neglect of cover, they must have lost about 10 to 1 in casualties, and had they not had their artillery to support them, they must have lost 20 or perhaps 30 to 1, for nearly all our casualties

      were by shell fire. The value of machine-guns was a revelation to all of us, and though ours had done good work, the enemy’s had too, and they had lots of them.




      Our men, instead of being downcast, were much impressed with the superiority of their rifle fire and extended order manoeuvring over the enemy’s fire and movements en masse.

      The casualties had been awful and the thought of those we had left behind were dreadful, but we knew all along that we should have to retire, and knew that it could not be helped.


    


  




   




  Whether ahead of 23 August retirement was considered inevitable by those involved is debatable, but it had undoubtedly become inevitable by the end of that dramatic day. About 1 a.m. on the

  24th, Lieutenant General Sir Archibald Murray, Chief of the General Staff, issued verbal orders to the staff officers of I and II Corps and of the Cavalry Division, for what was to become famous in

  history as ‘the Retreat from Mons’. The verdict of the British official historian is clear and uncompromising: ‘No other course was possible; for on the right of the BEF all the

  French were retiring, and on its left wing there was nothing except for French Territorial division near the coast, also in retreat.’3
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  From Mons to the Aisne




  ‘ALL RANKS ARE very much depressed owing not only to the fact of continually retiring,’ Sergeant William Edgington noted under the date 27

  August, ‘but at the total lack of any information. We appear to be simply driven blindly back.’




  It was Edgington who had recorded that during the euphoric arrival of his Royal Horse Artillery brigade at Le Havre only ten days previously he and his colleagues had been smothered in flowers

  and kisses. All this must have seemed far in the past as his 1st Cavalry Division began its hurried journey southwards within hours of the conclusion of the encounter at Mons:




  

    

      Monday 24th. Moved at daybreak and after what seemed to us wandering aimlessly about the country, came into action (great confusion), lost my cap, teams came up

      without orders, both my wagons overturned. Retired further back later and took up position at the edge of cornfield and got heavily shelled, difficulty in getting out of action. Big fight this

      day having had to assist 5th Division who were in difficulties.




      Tuesday 25th. A very hot trying day Germans seemed to be all round us. We came into action at 8.00 against Infantry and drove them back, my gun jammed.




      Wednesday 26th. Inhabitants fleeing from Germans. Marched early in the morning without orders but were en route to Ligny when we found we were on the flank of a

      big fight. Came into action against retiring Infantry and did good work.


    


  




   




  The ‘big fight’ referred to under 26 August was the battle of Le Cateau. The British II Corps, acting without orders and on the personal decision of its commander, General Sir Horace

  Smith-Dorrien, turned on the pursuing enemy and delayed his advance with a vigorous rearguard action which allowed the BEF to make good its escape. Le Cateau was to become a

  subject of much controversy and was to pave the way for Smith-Dorrien’s fall from favour in 1915, but the accepted verdict is that it was a vital as well as a courageous feat of arms. For

  many of those involved, however, it was one more confusing episode in a period of confusion, but at least losses were being inflicted on the Germans as well as the British. The following is from

  the description by the Artillery Sergeant, Albert George, of the events of Wednesday 26 August:




   




  

    

      We awoke at dawn eager for the fray and by 9 a.m. we were in action with our brigade but our shells were falling short so our Captain received orders to pick up a new

      position. At 1.0 p.m. we started for our new position about two miles away and while we were advancing shells and rifle bullets whizzed all round us but our Captain said, ‘Follow me,

      men’ and we couldn’t refuse. We got into action with the 3rd and 4th Divisions about 1.30 p.m. just as the Huns were getting the range on the 6th Battery RFA, several shells of the

      Huns hitting the guns and wagons and killing most of the gunners. We found that for about two miles to our right and left was British artillery and we knew then it would be an artillery duel.

      Every gun of our army was firing as fast as possible and by reports we did awful damage but the German guns were 10 to 1 so you can imagine which had the best chance. All our gunners stuck it

      as long as possible, but we were being gradually beaten by force and numbers.


    


  




   




  The battle in progress was more of a nineteenth- than a twentieth-century one in that it was fought virtually on an open field with guns in view of guns – a phenomenon that was soon to

  disappear, indeed had already officially disappeared, from the artillery textbooks. Meanwhile, the participants had an extensive view of the action in a manner reminiscent of the battles of the

  Napoleonic Wars or the Crimea. This is also from George’s account, a passage that reaches beyond vivid description towards accusation of outright panic on the part of some of the British

  side:




   




  

    

      We could see ammunition wagons trying to replenish getting about half-way to the gun, then a couple of shells would burst blowing the drivers and horses to smithereens, it

      was a terrible sight but the last two days had made us used to it. About 3.30 p.m. the Germans were advancing upon us so rapidly that the General Staff could see it was

      useless trying to stop the furious advance, so a General Retirement was ordered and it was every man for himself. The retirement was a scandalous sight in the History of Britain, but it will

      never be published. In our hurry to get away guns, wagons, horses, wounded men were left to the victorious Germans and even our British Infantrymen were throwing away their rifles, ammunition,

      equipment and running like hell for their lives, mind you not one Infantryman was doing this, but thousands, and not one Battery running away, but the whole of the British Expeditionary Force

      that took part in the Battle of that fatal Wednesday 26 Aug at Le Cateau.


    


  




   




  The retreat continued, lack of sleep, lack of orders and general confusion turning the process into a sustained nightmare. This is from an account written for his parents by Lieutenant Rowland

  Owen, 2nd Battalion, Duke of Wellington’s Regiment:




   




  

    

      The march to St Quentin was a marvellous sight – everybody completely exhausted – staff officers and generals asleep bent double in motors – men asleep

      over horse’s necks and on wagons and on limbers and all along the roadside – personally I slept on the march and kept crashing into the corporal in front at any checks. When

      eventually a halt was called, before we got strung out again, I went plumb asleep, I was woken by someone shouting ‘fall in’; so I fell in; and after marching a short way I began to

      wake up to the fact that things were a bit strange, and I found I was with the Middlesex Regt: quite a different division.


    


  




   




  Captain A.H. Habgood, RAMC, with the 3rd Field Ambulance, 3rd Division, also kept a detailed diary of the retreat which confirms the sense of confusion and fatigue suggested by Lieutenant

  Owen:




   




  

    

      I was dog-tired, half asleep and dreaming at times; the reality of the event became obscured; only the physical discomfort was apparent and uppermost in my mind; I felt that

      we should soon have to chuck it and go home to tea.




      There was a general absence of orders; many officers and detachments asked us the way to their units; we did not know, and the only answer we got from the staff

      officers we encountered was ‘Get on’, so we followed the rest.


    


  




   




  Caught up in the retreating tide were thousands of Belgians and French desperately trying to escape, with what belongings they could carry by hand or pile on carts. They could be a considerable

  hazard if their shambling progress coincided with outbreaks of fighting. ‘The civilians created a deuce of a discord every time a volley was fired or a shell burst near,’ Sergeant Bert

  Reeve noted on 25 August, though he admitted they had some reason for their panic: ‘it certainly was a bit startling what with the noise of battle and the shouting and the searchlights and

  houses on fire’. But the pathetic aspect of their situation was evident too and created much sympathy among the British. ‘ It would make you weep’, Sapper Hugh Bellew noted under

  27 August, ‘to see the refugees who have lost everything trekking along, little children and women crying.’




  Inexorably the retreat went on. This is from Sergeant Reeve’s entry for Sunday 30 August, one week after Mons:




   




  

    

      March, march, march, all the blessed day. Halt! dismount – mount, and then dismount. Halted long enough to get the water for tea, all but boiling and then of course we

      get the order to shift. The irony of the thing was that after going half a mile we halted for an hour at a spot where we couldn’t make tea. The infantry were falling out in dozens and we

      put as many on our vehicles as possible, making our own men walk. It was a terrible hot day, the hottest we have had so far. Circled round the town of Soissons, which looks a big place from

      what I could see of it from the heights above it. We camped in a cornfield about two miles W of the town. Had our breakfast, dinner and tea combined, after which I had a three days shave and a

      sponge bath. At 10 p.m. got the right side of a good stew and went to bed alongside a haystack.


    


  




   




  As August ended and still the retirement continued Sergeant Edgington and his RHA comrades were rapidly becoming dispirited:




   




  

    

      September 1. All ranks grumbling about the suppression of information. We know that we are marching towards Paris covering the retreat of the whole army, and we

      hear such rumours as ‘The French have shifted the Govt. to Bordeaux’, ‘Our base has been shifted to Nantes’, which all seems to point to disorder

      and all we get from the officers is that the mythical French Cavalry Corps should now be here, but nothing ever turns up.




      Horses are now beginning to suffer from the want of proper rations and continued marching, sore backs and breasts getting very prevalent.


    


  




   




  The rumour regarding the French government was one day ahead of events; it left for Bordeaux on 2 September. The idea of falling back on Nantes also had substance, in that Sir John French had

  become so concerned for his force that he had proposed to remove it westward and re-embark it not at Nantes but at the neighbouring port of St Nazaire, and had had to be deterred from doing so by a

  personal visit to the Commander-in-Chief’s headquarters by the Secretary of State for War, Lord Kitchener. French had been firmly reminded of his duty to his Allies as well as to his own

  army; there was no question of its being withdrawn from the field, certainly not at a time of such high tension and danger.




  In fact, the enemy’s advance was about to lose its vigour and to rein in to the north of Paris, while the French, with some help from the BEF, were to deliver the crucial setback to

  Germany’s plans known to history as the Battle of the Marne. The invading force found itself not attacking but attacked. Outmanoeuvred, and with its men suffering increasingly from fatigue,

  the German military leadership now found it was their turn to order a retreat. On 6 September Sergeant Edgington noted, with evident relief:




   




  

    

      March at 9 a.m. East: great joy in the change of direction after continually marching South.


    


  




   




  Sergeant Reeve recorded the event in more matter-of-fact terms:




   




  

    

      Sun. 6 Sept. Moved off at 5 a.m. Scheme changed and we are now advancing on to German flank, whose front has been changed to meet the 5th French Army. We came

      across them about 11 a.m. and came into action. Believe we have done very well.


    


  




   




  Captain Paterson’s diary for this period gives a brisk but inevitably confused impression of the battle as seen from the point of view of a battalion in perpetual movement. He also noted

  an early instance of a phenomenon that would be replicated many times in the months ahead: casualties from ‘friendly fire’:




   




  

    

      Wednesday, 9 September. Battle of the Marne. Push off again to take the Bridge at Nogent, which after some delay we find to be unoccupied by enemy.




      Our Cavalry, which is already across the river, is fired on by RA [Royal Artillery] – silly asses. It is quite obvious they are not the enemy. Advance again North. Sound of large

      battle on our left, i.e. West. We find eighteen Cavalrymen wounded by our guns. The officer of RA responsible ought to be shot in my opinion. We move North and still North and finally bivouac

      at Le Thoulet. All the villages are broken and signs of the retreating enemy are met with everywhere. Dead horses, graves, etc. Nasty sights. An occasional hole where a shell has dropped with

      perhaps some blood about it. Ugh! There is a certain amount of fighting with our advance guards and the Germans and we see ambulances coming back full of wounded. However, one is accustomed to

      such sights.




      Thursday, 10 September. Get off at 8 a.m., raining, very nasty. Get news at 10.30 that the Germans, who are retiring from West to North-East, are crossing our

      front and we push on. Our divisional cyclists come in for it and are shelled at 1,000 yards. Several killed and wounded, about twenty. General Findlay, CRA [Commander Royal Artillery], 1st

      Division, hit on the head by shrapnel bullet, was not dead when last we heard.




      Push on and come nasty close to high explosive German shells about the village of Priez, where we halt.




      Orders then come to move to Sommelmans and billet, which we do. Find on arrival that the interpreters have given us a very good meal.




      Just before turning in comes news of General Findlay’s death. Poor fellow.


    


  




   




  The Battle of the Marne, in the words of the official historian, ‘was the great turning-point of the war. It made a German victory impossible. Our enemy had lost the benefit of getting his

  blow in first by means of superior speed of mobilization and rapidity of advance through neutral territory. Such an advance could never recur; he might gain a compromise peace; but he could never

  win.’ For a brief time, indeed, it seemed as if victory might be there for the grasping, that the Germans might be forced back over their frontiers only weeks after

  they had left them. But to the north of the valley of the Marne lay the valley of the Aisne, with commanding heights on its northern bank the defensive potential of which the Germans could not fail

  to see. They dug themselves in and turned to await the Allied advance, and for a few short weeks a form of siege warfare was adopted by both sides which became, as it turned out, a foreshadowing of

  events to come. What was to be known as the Battle of the Aisne was, in essence, a dress rehearsal for the war of the trenches, and it was loathed from the moment it began by all participants. This

  was not the kind of war for which they had joined the colours; it was squalid, it was bloody, and it left grim reminders of the horror of what was happening in places from which they could not be

  decently removed. ‘At 4 a.m. I relieved the Guards in their trenches,’ wrote Captain Harry Dillon, a company commander of the 2nd Battalion, Oxfordshire and Buckinghamshire Light

  Infantry, on 18 September; ‘hundreds of German dead and wounded lie in thick clusters within a few yards but we cannot come out and collect them.’




  The new style of warfare also entailed the maintaining of hastily prepared fixed positions in which men were peculiarly vulnerable to artillery fire (gunners had all the time in the world to

  register on their targets) or to attacks by snipers, so that they could be ‘killed in action’ when doing nothing more offensive than cleaning a rifle or writing a letter home. Captain

  Paterson inveighed angrily on Sunday 20 September:




   




  

    

      We sit still in our trenches. Every now and then a man is knocked out with nothing to shoot at. One does not mind losing men when one is doing something, but to sit still

      and be knocked over one by one without seeing a soul is trying.


    


  




  And on Thursday 24 September:




   




  

    

      If I am to be killed let it be in the heat and rush of an advance and not by a dirty sniper who waits his chance for perhaps hours.


    


  




   




  A daily ration of three to four hours of shellfire was not uncommon, as Lieutenant Rowland Owen reported in a letter of the same date. He added:




   




  

    

      When I get home I hope you will not take it amiss if I dive under the sofa when the servants slam the attic door, or fall down flat in New Street when

      I hear an errand boy whistling, as these things are rather apt to get on one’s nerves. I find the danger of these shells is that when one does at long last come under a bit of rifle fire,

      in one’s delight one treats it as child’s play, although it must be far more dangerous. Some of the enemy are only about sixty yards away from our position, and the rest about 300

      yards. There are snipers all over the place, in the woods and up trees; and they carry on a hearty old shoot all day.


    


  




   




  In some units morale was plummeting. Sergeant T.H. Cubbon of the 15th Hussars noted on 3 October:




   




  

    

      Stood to at 3.30 relieved by C Company at 5.30. Then went into dugouts again. Rations ¼ loaf, piece of cheese and 1 pound of jam to 6 men. Can’t get a drop of

      water, it’s terrible as there is nothing to drink not even when we are in the wood. The position beginning to make every one feel fed up. Have been here since 14 Sept, 20 days, and there

      seems to be no change of position. Have already had men shooting themselves, including Capt. G——, Dr S——, Pte M——. Stayed in dugouts until dark. Then went

      into trenches as last night. From 1 o’clock had 3 hours heavy artillery and rifle fire poured into us.


    


  




   




  The enemy was now a near neighbour. Thus Captain Dillon, also on 3 October:




   




  

    

      I went out the other night a little way and one could hear them talking quite close. I could not see them from my place as there is a slight rise in front but where I am

      tomorrow I am only 500 yards off and amuse myself having pots at them if they put up their heads. If they pot back I can walk along the bottom of the trench a little further on.


    


  




   




  The fighting on the Marne and the Aisne meant much work for the Royal Army Medical Corps. In the first stage of the Aisne battle Captain A.H. Habgood’s 9th Field Ambulance entered the

  village of Vailly and found a church full of wounded. What he saw drew from him a grim and vivid description:




   




  

    

      Inside the church which was lit by candles, there were about two hundred men lying upon straw and mattresses of all sorts (they lay in the aisles, the

      chancel, the lady chapel and the altar steps).




      Rifles and equipment were stacked in the porch, and the ‘lightly’ wounded sat in groups on church chairs, placidly eating, drinking and smoking; in tattered khaki with dirty

      faces and scrubbly beards they looked like scarecrows.




      Most of the wounds had been caused by shells and some of the men had been hit a day or two before they could be brought in; their wounds were already festering, and the air of the church was

      bitter with the sickening stench of gangrene.




      Many of the men were quiet, but some were shouting in delirium; others groaning, praying, cursing and crying monotonously for water and morphia.


    


  




   




  Time did not endear the area of the Aisne to the British, even though there were frequent doldrum stretches without much action. Trenches were not what this war was meant to be about. Captain

  Arthur Maitland, 2nd Battalion, Essex Regiment, wrote to his ‘dear M. & F’ on 30 September:




   




  

    

      I spent my day and night in a trench. I have got a hole, partly burrowed out and partly roofed over with branches, just big enough to lie down, it is rather monotonous. I

      get out for meals but I have to be with my guns day and night as we are in the most forward trench waiting for the attack that never comes, as a matter of fact I think our position is too

      strong for the Germans’ liking, they shell us constantly but we laugh at them from our burrows like rabbits. I couldn’t tell you why we are fixed like this but we shall be very glad

      when we move forward again as this cave life is not to our liking.


    


  




   




  On the same day Lieutenant Owen wrote to his parents in remarkably similar terms:




   




  

    

      We are now living in a wood in little rabbit scratches, roofed over with straw – am getting terribly sick of it.


    


  




   




  Equally scathing was Captain Harry Dillon. When his division finally moved away in mid-October he dismissed the Aisne trenches with the telling understatement:




   




  

    

      Anyhow it is not the sort of place you would have selected for a honeymoon.
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  Casualties of the Great Retreat




  THE RETREAT FROM MONS left many men behind; stragglers, the exhausted or those who were overtaken while

  carrying out their duties. In the last category was Captain E.S.B. (always known as ‘Burt’) Hamilton, a medical officer of the Special Reserve, who had sailed to France with No. 7 Field

  Ambulance, 3rd Division. He was near the front line during the Mons battle treating the wounded under heavy shellfire. As his unit was about to retire at the end of the day, he received a message

  that a major of the Gordon Highlanders was lying wounded some distance up the road. He described what happened in a letter to his family dated 29 August:




   




  

    

      I took two stretcher-bearers and started back. We made use of what cover there was and rushed across the open spaces – we saw nobody but heard plenty. A wounded

      straggler told us the major had been taken into a house – a big château with a red cross flag (where I still am in fact). I asked if there was a doctor there. If there had been I

      would have gone back at once as our orders were not to be captured. There was no doctor so I went in and saw the major. He had a ball through his leg which had smashed the bone and made one

      small entrance and one big exit wound. I sent my two men back. I hope they reached our lines in safety, they have not been picked up since so I expect they reached our lines – possibly

      unwounded.




      I fixed up the leg as well as I could and gave directions about the others of whom there were a dozen – more or less wounded.




      Then I tried to get out but a burst of firing hailed me as I came round the comer of the house – a Maxim I think but I am not sure.




      It seemed absolutely impossible to get through so I went up to the upper windows and looked out and soon we could see the Germans advancing in columns along the fields below the

      château. I tried the other side as someone said there was still a British gun on the hill but there were Germans all around and the gun was retiring at the gallop.

      If I had known the little paths across the hill which is fairly densely wooded, I might possibly have got through as it became dusk. Some of our soldiers, three at least, did manage to hide on

      the hill during the night but were taken prisoners next day.




      The firing died down during the evening – I dined with the owner of the château – a M. Bouillart de Saint-Symphorien – a large landowner and I believe a noble of some

      sort. He and his wife and their daughter and daughter-in-law worked away with the help of a nun to look after the wounded.




      None of them would go to bed but I went off and slept like a top – I was almost too tired to think but one thought kept banging away – the fear you wouldn’t know I was

      safe. I hoped the stretcher-bearers would report that I was all right but I couldn’t be sure. ‘Missing’ is such a horrible label to have attached to one’s name.




      Next morning I was up at about 6 o’clock – had breakfast and found that the German army was right in front between us and the English.


    


  




   




  For a brief time Captain Hamilton found himself leading a charmed existence. He looked after the wounded both in his adopted château and in another, belonging to a relation of the owner, a

  quarter of a mile away, tending Germans as well as British. He also moved freely in and out of Mons itself visiting British wounded in different hospitals:




   




  

    

      I got a pass on Wednesday, and since then have gone about as I like. The people stare at me as I go down the street and almost all lift their hats so I am kept saluting all

      the time. The German guards who are everywhere have to see my pass but make no further difficulty. The people at the château are awfully kind to me – I thought the Germans would

      require me to stay in Mons and went to see them about it but when it turned out I could go where I liked in the neighbourhood, these people were as pleased as I was. They feed me splendidly.

      Breakfast – bread and butter and tea at 7 o’clock. Déjeuner at 12 – a first-rate meal for which I am always ready. Afternoon tea during the afternoon and dinner at 7

      o’clock, also a splendid meal.




      It is a real old château with beautiful old furniture – menservants etc. galore.


    


  




  However, on 5 September a much less happy note was struck when he added to his letter a brief hurried postscript:




   




  

    

      In great haste – just being taken away – I believe to Liège – prisoner. Geneva Convention notwithstanding – I shall be perfectly

      safe.


    


  




   




  Hamilton was put on a train full of prisoners of war heading for Germany. The journey took three days. The guards refused to give adequate food and water to ‘the English swine’,

  while the crowds at the stations were markedly hostile, one old lady going so far as to hit Hamilton over the head with her umbrella. He found himself at Targau Prisoner of War Camp, where on 17

  September he and twenty-seven other officers in non-combatant service submitted the following plea to the Commandant:




   




  

    

      We the undermentioned officers and personnel, RAMC, Civil Surgeons and Chaplains of the British Expeditionary Force respectfully request that you will forward for

      consideration this our application.




      Under the provisions of the Geneva Convention 1906 Cap 111 Art 9 & 12 Medical Officers and Chaplains are exempt from being treated as prisoners of war, and if their services are no

      longer required by their Captors they are entitled to be returned to their own lines or to their country through neutral territory. As our position here has not been defined, we request that a

      ruling on this point be made.


    


  




   




  The Commandant’s reply stated that they were not being looked upon as prisoners of war, but rather that their services were being retained for further eventualities:




   




  

    

      We are only at the beginning of the enormous World War, and we shall still have many thousands of English wounded to care for, for which purpose the accumulation of English

      doctors will be detailed.


    


  




  In the event, however, Hamilton’s good fortune held. Early in the New Year he and four other medical officers were exchanged for German officers, he being selected first

  as a married man. He was repatriated through Holland, reaching Folkstone on 12 January. He eventually returned to France to resume his duties.




  His anxieties about being posted missing had been justified. His family heard nothing until 18 September, when he was allowed to send a telegram stating that he was a prisoner. His letter,

  presumably posted on his behalf by his host at the château, reached its destination eleven days after, on 29 September.




  * * *




  Another casualty of the Retreat who was also posted missing was Frederick Thornton, a Staff Sergeant in the Army Ordnance Corps, attached to the 1st Battalion Loyal, North

  Lancashire Regiment in 1st Division. He was working on regimental equipment at a place called Morbaix when he was advised to leave, as the Germans were expected to occupy the village in a few

  hours. ‘I did not believe it,’ he later admitted. ‘I stayed on, and the result was that the Germans arrived before the end of the day, and there was no time to clear out.’

  He decided, however, not to surrender, but to go into hiding in the hope of escaping to continue his war.




  On 29 September 1914 a letter was sent to his wife from Red Barracks, Woolwich, signed by the Officer in charge of Army Ordnance Corps Records, in reply to an enquiry posted by her the day

  before. Its key sentence read:




   




  

    

      Madam,




      I beg to acknowledge the receipt of your communication of the 28th instant, and in reply I regret to inform you that a report has been received from the British Expeditionary Force to the

      effect that your husband No. 1011 Armourer Staff Sgt. F.R. Thornton, Army Ordnance Corps (attached 1st Bn. Loyal North Lancs Regt) is reported as ‘missing’.


    


  




  Mrs Thornton heard no more for many months. In the absence of information to the effect that her husband had become a prisoner of war, it was assumed that he was dead. She was

  already in possession of her widow’s pension papers when on 28 May 1915 she received a telegram originating from Rotterdam with the brief message: ‘Safe. Fred.’




  Her husband, with a corporal from the same unit, had been befriended by a French farming family named Legrand, and had escaped through Belgium to neutral Holland with the

  aid of the network associated with Prince Réginald and Princess Marie de Croy, one of the two escape organizations that functioned at this time in collaboration with Nurse Edith Cavell. From

  there he returned to England where he was able to resume his army career. Before leaving the farm he wrote an account of his various adventures since Mons which he left with the Legrands, the

  intention being that they should send it to his wife in England at the end of the war. If the escape were successful it would be superfluous; if on the other hand Thornton failed to get through, in

  particular if he lost his life in the attempt, the letter would tell his story. The following is an abbreviated version of his letter, which was written on 28 April 1915:




   




  

    

      My own dearest wife




      It is just eight months since we came to this house. A lot of our troops have been cut off the same as us. These people have been so good to us. But the anxiety has been very great. I am

      always thinking of the Baby and you, and praying that you are all right. About two months after we came here an English lady came to see us. She lives about a mile from here. They have done all

      they can for us and let us have some books to read. We thought the War would have been over by this time. Since we came here we have learned to speak a little French and can now well understand

      what they tell us. The Germans are all around us, a lot of them have been staying in the next village to us. It is an anxious time for the people we are staying with as if we were caught here

      they would burn the farm, and the poor old people would be severely punished.




      When we first came here we used to go out in the fields for walks and sometimes into the villages. Once we went to a village, and were looking at a German motor lorry that had broken down

      and had been left there when some Germans came through on bicycles. The foolish people in the village very nearly gave us away by staring at us. Of course we were not in uniform. When we saw

      them we walked quietly away, and got back safe. Another time we were in a house, and some Germans drove up in a motor car and we escaped out of the back and over the fields. The Germans got to

      know that there were some English and French soldiers still in the villages, and they made a proclamation saying the people were not to have us in their houses or to give

      us anything to eat, and they came and searched a lot of houses. Two poor soldiers of the Connaught Rangers that had been wounded and were staying in Hospital in this village had to leave. That

      was in November. The poor fellows had nowhere to go. These people put them up for two nights and then they went and stopped in a hut in the fields. We used to take them over their food. Soon

      after this (3 Dec) the Germans got to know about us, and we had to clear. Somebody must have given us away, for they asked in the village for the farm of M. Legrand and five of them came along

      on motor bikes, but instead of coming here they stopped at a house about 200 yards away, and there happened to be four French soldiers there having their breakfast. In the meantime we had gone,

      and stopped in a little hut that was used for duck shooting close to a river. We stayed there ten days without budging, and these people brought us our food. We had no fire, but a spirit stove

      so did not do so bad for we had plenty to eat with hot milk and coffee. When things had quietened down we came back to the farm, and have been like prisoners ever since, we only go out when it

      is dark, and have to hide every time anyone comes to the house.




      We have heard from the English people of a chance that may turn out well, and that is to go through Belgium and over the frontier into Holland. They say a lot of English soldiers have got

      back to England that way, so we are going to try our luck. We have to go from here through the Forest of Mormal and into Belgium, where we go to a house and they get us passports and take a

      photo which they use for the passport. Then we go through Mons and Brussels, it is about sixty miles from here to Brussels, and then we go north till we get over the frontier into Holland. It

      is very dangerous but we must chance it. We have people go with us as guides on different stages of the journey. I pray we shall be successful. If so you will have heard from me ere this

      reaches you, if not I hope that the worst that will happen is that we shall be treated as prisoners of War.





OEBPS/html/docimages/image2.jpg





OEBPS/html/docimages/image1.jpg
THE WESTERN FRONT 1914-18

\_q

T-g

BELGIUM

R sl

FRANCE

20 mies
SO uiometres
....... Frontiers of 1914 Approsimate ke of the Front rom lace 1914 to begianing of the
B e of che Somme, | by 1916
Limic of German advance 1914 Alled gins i 191617, ncluding ground conceded by the
Germans 7

Approximate direcion of rerest from Mons

nce i 1918

Direction of BEFs Race to the Sex — Armistice lne. 11 November 1918






OEBPS/html/docimages/cover.jpg
MALCOLM BROWN

THE IMPERIAL WAR MUSEUM
BOOK OF

THE WESTERN
FRONT

‘One of the best books of its type...an unrivalled and readable
introduction to the years of Trench Warfare.”
Times Educational Supplement






OEBPS/html/page-template.xpgt
 

   
    
		 
    
  
     
		 
		 
    

     
		 
    

     
		 
		 
    

     
		 
    

     
		 
		 
    

     
         
             
             
             
             
             
             
        
    

  

   
     
  





OEBPS/html/docimages/title.jpg
MALCOLM BROWN

THE IMPERIAL WAR MUSEUM BOOK OF

THE WESTERN FRONT

PAN GRAND STRATEGY SERIES

PAN BOOKS
inassacaton with
The Imperiol Wor Museum





